

2nd Edition

Auto Repair





Perform routine repairs and maintenance

Troubleshoot problems and handle roadside emergencies

Save fuel and extend your car's life

Deanna Sclar

Acclaimed auto repair expert



Auto Repair

2nd Edition

by Deanna Sclar

John O'Dell, Technical Advisor



Auto Repair For Dummies®, 2nd Edition

Published by: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2019 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748–6011, fax (201) 748–6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and may not be used without written permission. Microsoft Dynamics 365 is a trademark of Microsoft Corporation. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit https://hub.wiley.com/community/support/dummies.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018955357

ISBN: 978-1-119-54361-9; ISBN: 978-1-119-54369-5 (ebk); ISBN: 978-1-119-54370-1 (ebk)

Manufactured in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

What's So Special about Auto Repair For Dummies, 2nd Edition

This book is designed for people who think that anything technical will make their brains shut like garage doors, who sincerely care about how their vehicles affect the environment, and although they believe they can't work on their cars themselves — and wouldn't like it if they could — are willing to give it a try. How do I know that it will work for these reluctant readers? Because it's written by a genuine, certified ex-Dummy who has found that, despite total ignorance and a complete lack of manual dexterity, getting personally involved with a vehicle is enjoyable, rewarding, and easy. Believe me: If I can do it, so can you!

It Is Not Written for Confirmed "Do-It-Yourselfers." It Is for You If:

- >> You have never held a wrench.
- >> You are positive that, in your case, manual labor can lead only to disaster.
- >> You haven't the vaguest idea of how a car works.
- >> You have failed shop or arts and crafts.
- >> You believe that if you do something wrong, your car can blow up.

To Enjoy This Book, It Would Help If:

- >> You don't believe that working on your vehicle can possibly be fun, but you're willing to give it a try for any reason whatsoever.
- >> You are sincerely tired of being ripped off because of your own ignorance.

Why Is That Enjoyable? Because You Will Be Delighted to Find:

- >> Cars run on principles that are as easy to understand as common sense.
- >> You can save a tremendous amount of money, extend the life of your vehicle, save on fuel, and do your bit for the environment if you know more about your car!
- Most of the devices on your vehicle will not hurt you unless you really go out of your way to hurt yourself.

Here's How Auto Repair For Dummies Accomplishes These Miracles:

- >> It starts from scratch. It even shows you what a screwdriver looks like!
- >> It explains each system in simple terms before you get to work on it.
- >> It provides step-by-step instructions for even the simplest tasks.
- >> It tells you exactly what you need and how to know if you've been given the wrong part, the wrong diagnosis, or an outrageous estimate.

It Tells You the Truth About:

- >> What makes your vehicle go (and how and why as well)
- >> How the car you drive, how you drive it and maintain it, and how you recycle or dispose of used parts and toxic fluids affect fuel economy and global warming
- >> The easy work involved in keeping your vehicle well maintained and running efficiently, and how to tell what's wrong if trouble strikes
- >> How 15 minutes of "preventive medicine" avoids breakdowns
- >> Whether you can handle a problem yourself, and how to get it fixed at a fair price if you can't
- >> How to extend the life of your vehicle; keep it clean and healthy; and repair the minor dents and dings it acquires on the road

These Features Will Make Life Even Easier:

- >> A Practical Glossary of Automotive Terms that are in special type throughout the book so that you can refresh your memory if you've forgotten what something means
- >> A detailed *Index* where you can look up a part, a problem, a symptom, or a specific job and find the page you need
- A Maintenance Record so you can keep track of what you've done and when you did it
- >> A Specifications Record for the data you need to buy the right parts
- >> Tons of illustrations that show you how things look and where they are

This Revised Edition Also Tells You:

About alternatively fueled vehicles and other innovations so you can choose a safe and efficient vehicle when Old Faithful finally heads for the Used Car Lot in the Sky

You Have a Few Things to Supply, Too!

- >> You have to buy the book . . . and read it!
- >> You have to try to do one small, easy job yourself (you can pick the job).

There Are Fringe Benefits, Too!

- >> Your vehicle will run better and live longer.
- >> Automotive technicians will respect you.
- >> You'll have more money to spend on other things.
- >> You'll no longer be a Dummy!

Contents at a Glance

Introduction	. 1
Part 1: Getting to Know Your Vehicle	
CHAPTER 1: Things Every Driver Should Know	11
CHAPTER 2: Preventive Maintenance: A Monthly Under-the-Hood Check	31
CHAPTER 3: The Way to Your Car's Heart Is through Your Toolbox	49
CHAPTER 4: What Makes It Go? The Inner Secrets of Your Car Revealed!	69
Part 2: Powering Up with Air, Fuel, and Fire	83
CHAPTER 5: The Electrical System: Your Car's Spark of Life	85
CHAPTER 6: Keeping Your Electrical System in Tune	03
CHAPTER 7: The Traditional Fuel System: The Heart and Lungs of Your Car1	29
CHAPTER 8: Keeping Your Fuel System in Tune	49
CHAPTER 9: Diesels For Dummies	65
CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles	85
Part 3: Staying Cool and In Control	97
CHAPTER 11: The Cooling System Up Close	99
CHAPTER 12: Keeping Your Car from Getting Heartburn	07
CHAPTER 13: Oil: Keeping Your Car Young and Happy2	39
CHAPTER 14 : It's the Brakes!	57
CHAPTER 15: Be a Buddy to Your Brakes and Bearings2	71
Part 4: Smoothing the Ride: Steering and	
Suspension, Tires and Transmissions2	99
CHAPTER 16: Steering and Suspension Systems Smooth the Way	01
CHAPTER 17: How to Keep Your Car from Getting Sore Feet: Tires,	
Alignment, and Balancing3	17
CHAPTER 18: Take the Drive Train: Understanding and Maintaining	
Your Transmission without Losing Your Mind	43
Part 5: Staying Safe and Dealing with Emergencies 3	
CHAPTER 19: Staying Safe on the Road	
CHAPTER 20: Troubleshooting Leaks, Squeaks, Smells, and Strange Sensations3	
CHAPTER 21: What to Do If Your Car Drops Dead or Won't Start4	07
CHARTER 22: When All Else Fails: Finding and Dealing with a Good Mechanic 4	19

Part 6: Helping Your Vehicle Look Its Best HAPTER 23: Keeping Your Vehicle Clean and Beautiful HAPTER 24: Bodywork: Getting Rid of Dings, Dents, and Other Hard Knocks	441
Part 7: The Part of Tens HAPTER 25: The Ten Most Important Preventive Maintenance Measures HAPTER 26: Ten "Eco-Logical" Ways to Save Fuel	481
Appendix A: A Practical Glossary of Automotive Terms	495
Appendix B: Specifications and Maintenance Records	527
ndex	535

Table of Contents

INTRO	DUCTION	1
	About This Book	1
	How I Became Intimately Involved with My Car,	
	and Why You Should Too	
	Conventions Used in This Book	
	How I Picture You	
	Part 1: Getting to Know Your Vehicle	
	Part 2: Powering Up with Air, Fuel, and Fire	
	Part 3: Staying Cool and In Control	
	Part 4: Smoothing the Ride: Steering and Suspension,	
	Tires and Transmissions	
	Part 5: Staying Safe and Dealing with Emergencies	
	Part 6: Helping Your Vehicle Look Its Best	
	Part 7: The Part of Tens	
	Appendixes	
	Where to Go from Here	
	Beyond the Book	
	•	
PART 1	I: GETTING TO KNOW YOUR VEHICLE	9
CHAPTER 1:	Things Every Driver Should Know	11
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12 12 14
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12 12 14
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12 14 16 17
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12 14 16 17
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job	12 14 16 17 18
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely How to Change a Tire	12 14 16 17 18 20
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap	12 14 16 17 18 20 23
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely How to Change a Tire	12 14 16 17 18 20 23 24
CHAPTER 1:	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood. How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely. How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap Loosening the lug nuts	12 14 16 17 18 20 23 24 25
	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle. Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood. How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely. How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap Loosening the lug nuts Changing the tire. How to Get In When You're Locked Out.	12 14 16 17 18 20 23 24 25
	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap Loosening the lug nuts Changing the tire How to Get In When You're Locked Out Preventive Maintenance: A Monthly	12 14 16 17 18 20 23 24 25 26
	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle. Following safety rules. How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself. How to Open the Hood. How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again. How to Use a Jack Safely. How to Change a Tire. Removing a wheel cover or hubcap. Loosening the lug nuts. Changing the tire. How to Get In When You're Locked Out. Preventive Maintenance: A Monthly Under-the-Hood Check	12 14 16 17 20 23 24 25 26
	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle. Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood. How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely. How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap Loosening the lug nuts Changing the tire. How to Get In When You're Locked Out. Preventive Maintenance: A Monthly Under-the-Hood Check Getting Your Bearings under the Hood	12 14 16 17 20 23 24 25 26 28
	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again How to Use a Jack Safely How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap Loosening the lug nuts Changing the tire How to Get In When You're Locked Out Preventive Maintenance: A Monthly Under-the-Hood Check Getting Your Bearings under the Hood Check the Air Filter	12 14 16 17 20 23 24 25 26 28
	Before You Tackle Any Job Buying the right parts for your vehicle. Following safety rules How to Fill 'Er Up Yourself How to Open the Hood. How to Take Anything Apart — and Get It Back Together Again . How to Use a Jack Safely. How to Change a Tire Removing a wheel cover or hubcap Loosening the lug nuts Changing the tire. How to Get In When You're Locked Out. Preventive Maintenance: A Monthly Under-the-Hood Check Getting Your Bearings under the Hood	12 14 16 17 20 23 24 25 26 28

	Check the Coolant	.38
	Check the Hoses	
	Check the Dipsticks	.40
	Check the oil	
	Check the automatic transmission fluid	.42
	Check the power-steering fluid	
	Check the Brake Fluid	.44
	Check the Wiring	
	Check the Windshield Washer Fluid	
	Check and Replace Windshield Wipers	
	Check the Tires	
	Drive and Enjoy!	.47
CHAPTER 3:	The Way to Your Car's Heart Is through	
	Your Toolbox	49
	Shopping for Tools	
	Screwdrivers	
	Screwholders	
	Wrenches	
	Socket wrenches	
	Combination wrenches	
	Torque wrenches	
	Adjustable wrenches	
	Pliers	
	Gauges	
	Wire and taper feeler gauges	
	Tire pressure gauges	
	Compression gauges	
	Work Lights	.61
	Jacks	.62
	Jack Stands	.63
	Creepers	.63
	Fire Extinguishers	.64
	Funnels	.64
	More Things to Carry in Your Vehicle	.65
CHAPTER 4:	What Makes It Go? The Inner Secrets	
	of Your Car Revealed!	. 69
	Keeping Your Owner's Manual Handy	
	Introducing the Engine Control Unit (ECU)	
	What Makes Your Vehicle Start?	

	What Makes Your Vehicle Run?	
	The ignition system	
	The cooling system	
	The lubrication system	
	The exhaust system	
	What Makes Your Vehicle Stop?	80
PART 2	2: POWERING UP WITH AIR, FUEL, AND FIRE	83
CHAPTER 5:	The Electrical System: Your Car's Spark of Life	85
	Introducing the Engine Control Unit (ECU)	85
	The Starting System	
	The battery	
	The starter	
	The Charging System	
	The alternator	
	The voltage regulator	92
	The Ignition System	92
	The spark plugs	93
	Modern distributorless ignition systems	
	Electronic ignitions with a distributor	
	Warning Lights and Malfunction Indicator Lights (MIL)	
	Other Electrical Gadgets	101
CHAPTER 6:	Keeping Your Electrical System in Tune	103
	Determining Whether Your Vehicle Needs a Tune-up	
	Changing Your Spark Plugs	
	Finding your spark plugs	
	Deciding if you should do the job yourself	
	What you need to change and gap your plugs	
	Buying the right plugs	
	Removing old spark plugs	110
	Reading your spark plugs	113
	Gapping your spark plugs	115
	Installing a spark plug	117
	Replacing a Battery	
	Deciding if you should do the job yourself	
	Buying the right battery for your vehicle	
	How to remove and install a battery	
	Changing Fuses	
	Blade-type fuses	
	Tubular fuses	122

	Dealing with Headlights and Directional Signals	123
	Troubleshooting headlights	123
	Determining which headlights you have	124
	Replacing and adjusting halogen and Xenon headlamps	124
	Replacing and adjusting sealed-beam headlights	126
	Checking headlight alignment	127
	Replacing directional signals	128
CHAPTER 7:	The Traditional Fuel System: The Heart	
	and Lungs of Your Car	129
	Basic Fuel System Components	130
	Fuel tank	130
	Fuel lines and fuel pump	131
	Fuel filters	
	Cold air collector box and air filter	132
	The intake and exhaust manifolds	134
	The fuel/air mixture	134
	Following Fuel through the Fuel Injectors	134
	Multi-port fuel injection	136
	Sequential fuel injection	137
	Gasoline direct injection	137
	Throttle-body fuel injection	138
	The Engine Block: Where the Fuel System and Ignition	
	System Meet	
	Major engine components	
	The four-stroke power cycle	
	Supercharging with Turbochargers	
	The Exhaust System	
	The muffler	
	The PCV valve	
	The catalytic converter	
	Other emissions control devices	148
CHARTER O.	Keeping Your Fuel System in Tune	1/10
CHAPTER 6.	Maintaining Your Air Filter	
		150
	Checking and cleaning your air filter and cold air collector box	151
	Buying and replacing an air filter	
	Replacing a Fuel Filter	
	Deciding whether to change a fuel filter yourself	
	Locating the fuel filter	
	Replacing a fuel filter	
	Replacing an insert in a fuel filter	

Locating the PCV valve		Servicing the PCV Valve	
Removing and replacing the PCV valve			
Cleaning the PCV valve			
Troubleshooting Catalytic Converters Checking the Compression in the Cylinders Checking the Compression in the Cylinders What to Do When All Else Fails 163 CHAPTER 9: Diesels For Dummies Clean Diesels: Nontoxic Newcomers 165 The Pros and Cons of Diesels 167 What Makes It Go? 168 The Fuel System. 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 186 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 189			
Checking the Compression in the Cylinders .160 What to Do When All Else Fails .163 CHAPTER 9: Diesels For Dummies .165 Clean Diesels: Nontoxic Newcomers .165 The Pros and Cons of Diesels .167 What Makes It Go? .168 The Fuel System .171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle .172 Diesel fuel .173 The Electrical System .175 The Emissions System .176 Caring for Your Diesel .177 Changing the lubricating oil .178 Changing the fuel filters .179 Changing the fuel filters .179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system .180 Draining water separators .180 Jump-starting diesel batteries .181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning .182 Block heaters .182 Battery warmers .183 Oil warmers .183 What not to do on a frosty morning .184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic .184 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
What to Do When All Else Fails 163 CHAPTER 9: Diesels For Dummies 165 Clean Diesels: Nontoxic Newcomers 165 The Pros and Cons of Diesels 167 What Makes It Go? 168 The Fuel System 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the eir filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles		Troubleshooting Catalytic Converters	159
CHAPTER 9: Diesels For Dummies. 165 Clean Diesels: Nontoxic Newcomers 165 The Pros and Cons of Diesels 167 What Makes It Go?. 168 The Fuel System. 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle. 172 Diesel fuel. 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel. 177 Changing the lubricating oil. 178 Changing the fuel filters. 179 Changing the fuel filters. 179 Changing the fuel filters. 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators. 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 183 Oil warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 From Horses		Checking the Compression in the Cylinders	160
Clean Diesels: Nontoxic Newcomers 165 The Pros and Cons of Diesels 167 What Makes It Go? 168 The Fuel System 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Changing and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids <td></td> <td>What to Do When All Else Fails</td> <td> 163</td>		What to Do When All Else Fails	163
The Pros and Cons of Diesels 167 What Makes It Go? 168 The Fuel System 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189	CHAPTER 9:	Diesels For Dummies	165
The Pros and Cons of Diesels 167 What Makes It Go? 168 The Fuel System 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189		Clean Diesels: Nontoxic Newcomers	165
What Makes It Go? 168 The Fuel System 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
The Fuel System. 171 The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel. 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel. 177 Changing the lubricating oil. 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190			
The diesel four-stroke power cycle 172 Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190			
Diesel fuel 173 The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190			
The Electrical System 175 The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel. 177 Changing the lubricating oil. 178 Changing the air filter. 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190			
The Emissions System 176 Caring for Your Diesel 177 Changing the lubricating oil 178 Changing the air filter 179 Changing the fuel filters 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system 180 Draining water separators 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning 182 Block heaters 182 Battery warmers 183 Oil warmers 183 What not to do on a frosty morning 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190			
Caring for Your Diesel			
Changing the lubricating oil. 178 Changing the air filter . 179 Changing the fuel filters . 179 Bleeding and priming the fuel system . 180 Draining water separators . 180 Jump-starting diesel batteries . 181 Getting Started on a Frosty Morning . 182 Block heaters . 182 Battery warmers . 183 Oil warmers . 183 What not to do on a frosty morning . 184 Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic . 184 CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles . 185 Ethanol . 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles . 188 Hybrids . 188 Parallel hybrids . 188 Series hybrids . 189 Plug-in hybrids . 190			
Changing the air filter			
Changing the fuel filters			
Bleeding and priming the fuel system			
Jump-starting diesel batteries			
Jump-starting diesel batteries			
Getting Started on a Frosty Morning			
Battery warmers			
Oil warmers		Block heaters	182
Oil warmers		Battery warmers	183
Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic			
CHAPTER 10: From Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190		What not to do on a frosty morning	184
Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190		Finding a Reliable Diesel Mechanic	184
Powered Vehicles 185 Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190	CHARTER 44	Erom Horses to Hybrids: Alternatively	
Ethanol 186 Flex-fuel Vehicles 188 Hybrids 188 Parallel hybrids 188 Series hybrids 189 Plug-in hybrids 190	CHAPTER 10	Powered Vehicles	185
Flex-fuel Vehicles			
Hybrids			
Parallel hybrids			
Series hybrids		Hybrids	122
Plug-in hybrids			
		Parallel hybrids	188
		Parallel hybrids	
Regenerative hrakes 191		Parallel hybrids	

ŀ	Electric Vehicles (EV)	194 194
	STAYING COOL AND IN CONTROL	
CHAPTER 11:	The Cooling System Up Close	199
	Coolant/Antifreeze	
7	he Radiator	201
	The hoses	
	The coolant recovery system	
_	The pressure cap	
	The Fan	
	The Water Pump The Thermostat	
	The Heater Core	
	The Transmission Cooler	
	Air Conditioning	
	-	
	Keeping Your Car from Getting Heartburn	
(Tuorcoming Overheating	
· ·	Overcoming Overheating	
·	Addressing occasional overheating	208
	Addressing occasional overheating	208 208
	Addressing occasional overheating	208 208 209
	Addressing occasional overheating	208 208 209 210
	Addressing occasional overheating	208 208 209 210
	Addressing occasional overheating	208 208 219 210
	Addressing occasional overheating	208 208 210 210 212 213
(Addressing occasional overheating	208 208 210 210 212 213 214
(Addressing occasional overheating	208 209 210 210 212 213 214 215
(Addressing occasional overheating	208 209 210 210 212 213 214 215
(Addressing occasional overheating	208 209 210 212 213 214 215 215
(Addressing occasional overheating	208 209 210 212 213 214 215 215
(Addressing occasional overheating	208 209 210 212 213 214 215 215 216 217
ſ	Addressing occasional overheating Dealing with a chronic hothead. Identifying other causes of overheating Checking and Adding Liquid to Your Cooling System Removing a pressure cap safely Avoiding disaster when adding liquid to any type of cooling system. Checking and adding liquid to a coolant recovery system Checking and adding liquid to a radiator. Clushing Your System and Changing Your Coolant Deciding if you're up for the job Determining whether your coolant needs changing Figuring out how much coolant you need Keeping coolant out of the mouths of babes and small animals Flushing the system	208 209 210 210 213 214 215 215 216 217
ſ	Addressing occasional overheating Dealing with a chronic hothead. Identifying other causes of overheating Checking and Adding Liquid to Your Cooling System Removing a pressure cap safely Avoiding disaster when adding liquid to any type of cooling system. Checking and adding liquid to a coolant recovery system Checking and adding liquid to a radiator. Clushing Your System and Changing Your Coolant Deciding if you're up for the job Determining whether your coolant needs changing Figuring out how much coolant you need Keeping coolant out of the mouths of babes and small animals Flushing the system Finding Leaks in the Cooling System	208209210212213214215215217218219
ſ	Addressing occasional overheating Dealing with a chronic hothead. Identifying other causes of overheating Checking and Adding Liquid to Your Cooling System Removing a pressure cap safely Avoiding disaster when adding liquid to any type of cooling system. Checking and adding liquid to a coolant recovery system Checking and adding liquid to a radiator. Clushing Your System and Changing Your Coolant Deciding if you're up for the job Determining whether your coolant needs changing Figuring out how much coolant you need Keeping coolant out of the mouths of babes and small animals Flushing the system Finding Leaks in the Cooling System Look under your vehicle	208209210212213214215215217218219219
ſ	Addressing occasional overheating Dealing with a chronic hothead. Identifying other causes of overheating Checking and Adding Liquid to Your Cooling System Removing a pressure cap safely Avoiding disaster when adding liquid to any type of cooling system. Checking and adding liquid to a coolant recovery system Checking and adding liquid to a radiator. Flushing Your System and Changing Your Coolant Deciding if you're up for the job Determining whether your coolant needs changing Figuring out how much coolant you need Keeping coolant out of the mouths of babes and small animals Flushing the system Finding Leaks in the Cooling System Look under your vehicle. Check the radiator.	208209210212213214215215216217218219221
ſ	Addressing occasional overheating Dealing with a chronic hothead. Identifying other causes of overheating Checking and Adding Liquid to Your Cooling System Removing a pressure cap safely Avoiding disaster when adding liquid to any type of cooling system. Checking and adding liquid to a coolant recovery system Checking and adding liquid to a radiator. Clushing Your System and Changing Your Coolant Deciding if you're up for the job Determining whether your coolant needs changing Figuring out how much coolant you need Keeping coolant out of the mouths of babes and small animals Flushing the system Finding Leaks in the Cooling System Look under your vehicle	208209210212213214215216217218219221

Buying and Replacing Hoses and Hose Clamps	224
Buying the right hose	224
Buying and replacing hose clamps	226
Replacing hoses	
Repairing Leaks in the Cooling System	
Radiator leaks	
Leaks in the engine-block core plugs	
Internal leaks	
Leaky water pump	
Locating leaks by pressure-testing the cooling system	
Adjusting and Replacing Accessory Belts	
Replacing Your Thermostat	
Servicing Air Conditioners	
CHAPTER 13: Oil: Keeping Your Car Young and Happy	239
How Oil Benefits Your Vehicle	
Oil cools the engine	
Oil keeps your engine clean	
Oil cuts down on friction	241
Oil retards corrosion	242
What You Should Know about Oil	
Oil additives	
Viscosity ratings	
Oil classification codes	
Synthetic oil	
Choosing the Right Oil for Your Vehicle	
How Often You Should Change Your Oil	
How to Change Your Oil Yourself	
Get your supplies together	
Do the job systematically	
Recycle your old oil and filter	
Recycle your old on and inter	233
CHAPTER 14: It's the Brakes!	257
Brake System Basics	257
The brake pedal	258
Power brakes	
The brake master cylinder	260
Brake lines	
Brake fluid	
Drum Brakes	
Brake drums	
Wheel cylinders	
Brake shoes	264

Brake linings	
Adjusting devices	
Disc Brakes	
The Parking Brake	
Anti-Lock Braking Systems (ABS)	
How ABS works	
What ABS doesn't do	
Other Electronic Braking Systems	
Brake Assist (BA)	
Electronic brakeforce distribution (EBD)	
CHAPTER 15: Be a Buddy to Your Brakes and Bearing	S 271
Checking Your Brake System	
Checking your brake pedal	
Checking your master cylinder	
Checking your brake lines	
Getting at Your Brakes	
Things to do and not to do when working on brake	
Checking drum brakes	
Reassembling drum brakes	
Checking disc brakes	
Checking and Packing Wheel Bearings	
Inspecting and repacking your wheel bearings	
A quick way to tell whether your bearing's wearing	
Flushing and Changing Brake Fluid	
Bleeding Your Brakes	
Adjusting Your Parking Brake	
Checking Anti-Lock Brakes	
Checking And Lock Brakes	
PART 4: SMOOTHING THE RIDE: STEERING AN	D
SUSPENSION, TIRES AND TRANSMISSIONS	299
CHAPTER 16: Steering and Suspension Systems	
Smooth the Way	301
The Steering System	
The steering linkage	
Power steering systems	
Checking your steering	
Suspension Systems	
Major parts of the suspension system	
Types of suspensions	

CHAPTER 17	How to Keep Your Car from Getting Sore Feet:	
	Tires, Alignment, and Balancing	317
	Tire Construction	318
	The Secrets on Your Sidewalls, Revealed!	320
	Tire codes	321
	Speed ratings	322
	DOT identification and registration	322
	Tire quality grade codes	323
	Other sidewall information	
	Types of Tires	
	Passenger vehicles	
	Tires for trucks and SUVs	
	Specialized Tire Systems	
	Run-flat tires	
	Low-pressure warning systems	
	Self-inflating tire systems	
	Tips for Buying Tires	
	Caring for Your Tires	
	Checking tire inflation pressure	
	Adding air to your tires	
	Rotating your tires	
	Balancing your wheels	
	Aligning your wheels	
	Checking your tires for wear	
	Dealing with Defective Tires	341
CHAPTER 18:	Take the Drive Train: Understanding and	
	Maintaining Your Transmission without	
	Losing Your Mind	2/12
	•	
	The Drive Train.	
	How Power Flows through the Drive Train	
	Four-wheel drive	
	All-wheel drive	
	Manual Transmissions	
	How a manual transmission works	
	Dual-clutch transmissions	
	Continuously variable transmissions	
	CONTRIBUTION AND AND A CONTRIBUTION OF THE CON	טט/

Troubleshooting Your Drive Train	358 359 360 362
PART 5: STAYING SAFE AND DEALING WITH EMERGENCIES	367
CHAPTER 19: Staying Safe on the Road	369
Air Bags	
Traveling safely with air bags	
How air bags work	
Replacing air bags	
Frontal air bags	374
Side air bags (SAB)	375
Side Impact Protection Systems (SIPS)	
Adjustable Devices	
Child Safety Seats and Booster Seats	
Child safety seat requirements	
Choosing child safety seats	
Smart Seat Belts.	
"Eyes" in the Back of Your Vehicle	
Back-up beepers and sensors	
Back-up cameras and monitors	
Blind-spot information systems (BLIS)	
Brake-Shift Interlocks	
Electronic Stability Control (ESC)	
Rollover Stability Control (RSC)	
Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC)	
Telematics: How Cars Communicate	
Navigation systems	
Tracking systems	
CHAPTER 20: Troubleshooting Leaks, Squeaks, Smells,	
and Strange Sensations	395
Sounds	396
Squeaks, Rattles, and Vibrations	
Smells	
Smoke	
Leaks	
Strange Sensations	
Directional Signals	

CHAPTER 21: What to Do If Your Car Drops Dead or	
Won't Start	407
Getting Off the Road Safely	407
Troubleshooting the Problem	410
Air	410
Fuel	
Fire	
Handling a Vehicle That Overheats on a Hot Day	
Overheating When It Isn't Hot Outside	
If Your Vehicle Won't Start	
Won't-start symptoms	
Jumping a start	416
CHAPTER 22: When All Else Fails: Finding and Dealing	
with a Good Mechanic	419
Choosing a Service Facility	420
Dealerships	420
Chain and department stores	
Independents	
Specialists	
Finding a Reliable Service Facility	
Evaluating a Facility	
Getting the Best Possible Deal	
Always check the invoice carefully	
Establish a good relationship with your service facility	
Getting satisfaction on <u>any</u> complaint	
Climbing the complaint ladder	
Climbing the complaint lauder	433
PART 6: HELPING YOUR VEHICLE LOOK ITS BEST	439
CHAPTER 23: Keeping Your Vehicle Clean and Beautiful	441
Environmentally Safe Ways to Clean Your Vehicle	443
Cleaning the Exterior	
De-bugging your vehicle safely	
Washing your vehicle's body	
Restoring visibility to windows and mirrors	447
Polishing metal trim and chrome	
Caring for wheels and tires	
Cleaning and repairing convertible tops	
Cleaning and polishing your vehicle	
Waxing your vehicle	453

Cleaning under the Hood	454
Cleaning the Interior	456
Keeping things tidy	456
Cleaning upholstery and carpeting	458
Fighting stains and odors	459
Repairing tears and holes	460
Caring for headliners	460
Cleaning floor mats	
Cleaning inside the windows	461
Remembering Those Final Touches	461
CHAPTER 24: Bodywork: Getting Rid of Dings, Dents,	
and Other Hard Knocks	463
Getting Rid of Rust	464
Checking for rust	464
Dealing with any rust you find	466
Undercoating to prevent rust	467
Removing Small Dents and Dings	467
Filling Small Dents and Holes	468
Touching Up Your Paint Job	
Installing New Weatherstripping or Patching the Old	
Dealing with Damaged Windshields	
Turning to the Pros for Larger Repairs	
Evaluating body shops	
Choosing parts	
Checking bodywork	477
PART 7: THE PART OF TENS	470
PART 7. THE PART OF TENS	4/9
CHAPTER 25: The Ten Most Important Preventive	
Maintenance Measures	481
Change the Oil Frequently and Regularly	482
Do a Monthly Under-the-Hood Check	
Check the Tire Inflation and Alignment	482
Keep the Interior Clean	482
Wash the Vehicle Frequently and Keep It Out of the Sun	
Get Rid of Rust	483
Change the Filters	483
Change the Coolant	484
Lubricate the Moving and Rubber Parts	
Get Scheduled Maintenance to Keep Warranties Valid	485

CHAPTER 26: Ten "Eco-Logical" Ways to Save Fuel	487
Take a Look under the Hood	488
Start Up without Warming Up	
Drive Eco-Logically	489
Structure Trips to Save Fuel	
Fill 'Er Up Eco-Logically	
Keep Your Side Windows Shut and the AC Turned Off	
Keep Your Tires Properly Inflated	492
Clean Out the Junk	492
Keep Your Vehicle Waxed	
Use a Trailer Instead of a Roof Rack	493
APPENDIX A: A PRACTICAL GLOSSARY OF	
AUTOMOTIVE TERMS	495
APPENDIX B: SPECIFICATIONS AND	
MAINTENANCE RECORDS	527
Specifications Record	
Maintenance Record	
maniferialite recording to the second	
INDEX	525

Introduction

or many people, getting a driver's license is an event that runs second only to getting a diploma or a marriage license. Most of us succeed in passing the test and hop happily into our vehicles, headed for the freedom of the open road. Unfortunately, most of us don't know the first thing about the machines we're licensed to drive — and this can turn a ticket to freedom into a ticket to trouble.

I'm not necessarily talking about physical danger. State motor vehicle bureaus have made fairly sure that, before we can get a driver's license, we know how to drive defensively and can handle a vehicle under poor driving conditions. What I'm referring to is the kind of trouble that comes from depending on other people to care for and repair our vehicles. If you're like most people, you probably tend to drive around until something goes wrong and then incur the expense of replacing worn and burned-out parts — or the entire vehicle! — when low-cost, regular maintenance could have kept your wheels turning for a long time.

Whether you're trying to cut expenses, are tired of being patronized, or have just fallen in love with your first car, this book tells you how your vehicle works, what it needs in the way of tender loving care, how to reduce its impact on the environment, and how to keep from getting ripped off if you have to entrust repairs to someone else. By handling the simple maintenance and being able to diagnose trouble and perform the less complex repairs yourself, you'll earn the respect of your family, your mechanic, and your car — and you'll feel pretty good about it!

About This Book

This new edition is about much more than auto repair. In this book, I introduce you to the wonders of the internal combustion engine and to the even more wondrous alternative fuels and alternatively fueled vehicles that reduce dependence on the rapidly dwindling supply of fossil fuel and will play a huge role in the battle against global warming that threatens the future of the planet. I'm proud to say that this edition of *Auto Repair For Dummies* is the first "green" automotive guide that focuses on how the vehicles you choose; the way you maintain them; and how you recycle used oil, parts you've replaced, and other waste products directly affects the environment.

The book starts off with the basics every driver should know, from how to get the hood open and fill up with fuel, to using a jack and changing a tire safely. You learn

the basic safety rules to follow when dealing with your vehicle, and how to take *anything* apart and reassemble it without losing anything, including your mind! After identifying the basic tools you may need, I gently lead you into an easy preventive maintenance check-up that you can do to extend the life of your vehicle and keep it from breaking down on the road.

Next, there's a quick overview of how your vehicle's principal systems work together to start it, operate it efficiently on the road, and bring it safely to a stop. After you have a general idea of how things work, we explore each system, part by part, and what needs to be done to maintain it, troubleshoot it, and do minor repairs yourself. Don't worry about getting in over your head. If a repair can get you into trouble if you attempt to do it yourself, I tell you how to be sure the work is done properly by a professional at a fair price. So don't chicken out on me! Start with the easy stuff and then take on the more challenging tasks.

How I Became Intimately Involved with My Car, and Why You Should Too

Before I moved to California, I was an ordinary urban cliff dweller: I had only a nodding acquaintance with cars. Ours was locked up in a garage, and I used subways, buses, and taxis. All the maintenance on our car was done by the garage that housed it. When we moved to California, my enthusiasm for a life in the sun was considerably dampened by the knowledge that this would also include a life on the freeways, but the first time I took the family car to the supermarket myself I had an epiphany in the parking lot: I could drive anywhere I wanted to, instead of just being driven home. It wasn't long before I was looking for a car of my own.

The best I could do was a secondhand Mustang with more than 70,000 miles on it. A friend of mine checked out the car and pronounced it drivable. He said that it might need "a little work." We took it to a reliable mechanic, who checked it over, tuned it up, and told me that it was "a classic."

Thus reassured, I drove the car to the Department of Motor Vehicles to register it. I parked the car, turned off the ignition, locked it, and found that the car was singing! A bit puzzled, I rechecked the ignition and the radio, but everything was truly shut off. And still the car sang. By the time I returned, all was quiet. But that night, when I took the family out to dinner, old Tweety Bird began to sing again. After several weeks of expensive and unsuccessful repairs, I found out that all she had needed was an inexpensive radiator cap. To my amazement, the shop was unwilling to refund the money I'd spent on all the other stuff they'd tried! I realized that it would be impossible to communicate with Tweety properly if I didn't know anything about her, and the repair bills were going to send both of us down the drain.

So I conned a friend of mine into taking an auto shop class with me at a local adult-ed center. Instead of a bewildering array of weird objects and miles of hoses that threatened to blow up if I turned a screw in the wrong direction, I soon found that a car was just a series of simple mechanisms linked together and that vehicles are very good about sending out signals telling you clearly what's wrong — if you know how to hear, see, smell, or feel them.

Before long, it was no longer enough to be able to communicate with a mechanic; I wanted to be the mechanic *myself* whenever possible. Not only did I save money, but Tweety began running better, and I found that not only was I saving money and fuel, I was having *fun!*

Today, vehicles are more complex because computers control many systems and even professional mechanics need specialized equipment to deal with them. The upside is that these vehicles usually need fewer repairs, and there are much greater intervals between basic maintenance tasks, most of which are still easily done yourself. The same goes for making a variety of minor repairs and adjustments.

Unlike professional mechanics, when *you* do the troubleshooting (that's CarSpeak for diagnosing a problem by analyzing the symptoms), you can try the cheaper solutions first. For example, if your engine has been overheating constantly, you check the radiator cap and the coolant level, look for leaks in the hoses, and check the thermostat *before* paying for a new water pump. If it's the cap, a hose, or the thermostat, you may be able to easily replace it yourself, and the money you'll save is well worth the effort. If it finally comes down to changing the water pump, you can ask the mechanic about installing a good rebuilt pump instead of an expensive new one.

With this book as your guide to how cars work, you may discover that your vehicle stops being a mystery and begins to be fun to hang around with. When you realize that a vehicle exhibits most of the symptoms of life — it's self-propelled, reacts to outside stimuli, consumes fuel and discharges wastes, and even manages to sing a little tune now and then — it's really hard not to respond to it as though it were another living thing.

Conventions Used in This Book

The following conventions are used throughout the text to make things consistent and easy to understand:

- >> All Web addresses appear in monofont.
- >> Whenever you encounter a term set in *this font*, you'll find it defined in the glossary in Appendix A.

- >> Italic is used to note technical terms that aren't defined in the glossary.
- **>> Bold** is used to highlight the action parts of numbered steps as well as key information in lists.
- >> Sidebars are the shaded boxes that appear here and there. They contain information that's interesting and insightful and that may help you out in your auto repair adventures. However, you won't be at a serious disadvantage if you stick to the regular text and save the sidebars to read later on.

How I Picture You

In order to make this book as relevant, readable, and enjoyable as possible, I envision it as a friendly conversation with the kind of person I feel would want to read it. Here's my mental portrait of my readers:

- >> You're intelligent and may know a great deal about a lot of things (law, business, literature, medicine, and other nonautomotive subjects), but you need some help when it comes to cars.
- >> You're tired of living as a "closet dummy" who nods and smiles at the incomprehensible mutterings of your mechanic, only to end up shelling out money for repairs that you neither fully understand nor always need.
- >> You've decided that it simply isn't worth the extra money to have other people do things for you that you can do yourself.
- >> You're tired of other people assuming (especially if you're a teenager, a senior, or a woman) that you aren't capable of handling repairs yourself.
- >> You want to keep a good vehicle in good condition without paying dearly to have someone else do the simple maintenance, or you want to keep your old heap running just a little longer without spending a lot of money on it.
- >> You want to maintain your vehicle *without* devoting every weekend, weeknight, and spare lunch hour to poring over the intricacies, details, and mysteries of the internal combustion engine.
- >> You've realized (I hope!) that a vehicle that runs inefficiently because it's poorly maintained or is running on fossil fuel pollutes the environment, and you want to do something to turn that around.

How This Book Is Organized

Basically, this book covers everything you need to know to understand, care for, maintain, and troubleshoot your vehicle, or choose a new, more efficient, and safer one. You'll be relieved to know that I explain everything in everyday terms, with no jargon, no unnecessary technical details, and lots of simple illustrations.

To help you find information easily, this book is divided into seven parts, each containing chapters that deal with a particular topic. Because the key to doing *any* job is to understand what you're working on and how it functions, I strongly recommend that you read the chapter that deals with the system you want to work on *before* you head for the chapter that tells you how to do a specific job. The following sections describe the information that you can find in each part.

Part 1: Getting to Know Your Vehicle

If you want the basics, this is the part for you. I cover things that everyone who drives should know, like how to decide whether you want to do a job yourself, how to get the hood open, how to use a jack and change a tire, and how to take *anything* apart and put it back together again. A monthly under-the-hood check that can prevent 70 percent of highway breakdowns will transform you from an "I-can't-do-it-myselfer" into a hands-on mechanic. I also describe the tools that you'll need to borrow or buy if you plan to do regular maintenance and simple repairs. Finally, a quick and simple run-through of how basic automotive systems work together gives you the confidence to explore further because what was once a mystery is now familiar territory.

Part 2: Powering Up with Air, Fuel, and Fire

This part provides a closer look at the electrical and fuel systems in vehicles with internal combustion engines and tells you how to do simple jobs related to each one. If you own or would like to own an alternatively fueled vehicle, you'll find information on how diesel, hybrid, multifuel, natural gas, and hydrogen vehicles work; descriptions of a variety of alternative fuels; and the advantages and disadvantages of each.

Part 3: Staying Cool and In Control

This part deals with the cooling system, how oil benefits your vehicle, and how the brake system works. You find out how to prevent and deal with chronic overheating, add and change coolant, find and repair leaks, change your oil, check and maintain your brakes, pack wheel bearings, and do a variety of other vital tasks.

Part 4: Smoothing the Ride: Steering and Suspension, Tires and Transmissions

How comfortably and efficiently a vehicle operates is hugely influenced by the systems covered in this part of the book. This part tells you how all these systems operate and shows you how to choose the right tires, read the wealth of information on the sidewalls and the treads to prevent tires from wearing out prematurely, about balancing and alignment, and how to fill tires with the proper amount of air. The chapters on transmissions explain how they work, how to troubleshoot symptoms, and how to obtain the best deal on repairs, along with driving techniques that will extend the life of your transmission.

Part 5: Staying Safe and Dealing with Emergencies

This part helps you deal with problems that may occur while you're away from home. It describes a variety of new safety systems that help children ride comfortably and securely, prevent accidents and injuries, increase traction and stability, avoid rollovers, and even call for help without your assistance when your car is disabled or stolen. It shows you how to decipher such symptoms as weird noises, smoke, smells, and leaks to determine what's wrong; I also share what to do to get off the road safely, jump a start, and cool things down if your car overheats in traffic.

If a job is just too hairy to deal with yourself, I tell you how to find a reliable service facility and establish a good relationship with it, describe a problem so a mechanic can diagnose it swiftly and accurately, decipher a mechanic's invoice, and get satisfaction on complaints if, despite your best efforts, you run into problems with *anything* you buy.

Part 6: Helping Your Vehicle Look Its Best

Because keeping a vehicle clean — inside and out — can extend its life and value, in this part I cover washing and waxing the body, tidying up under the hood, cleaning the interior, and removing stains from fabric, carpeting, windows, and other surfaces. If your vehicle has suffered minor damage, I show you how to repair small dings, dents, and rust spots; touch up paint; and patch or install weatherstripping instead of paying big bucks for body shops to do it. If major work needs to be done I tell you how to choose the right type of parts, and how to evaluate body shops and get the best deal and highest quality work from them.